IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Mar 27 2020 11:03 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

REV. LEONARD JACKSON,

Appellant,

VS.

FAIR MAPS NEVADA PAC, NEVADA SECRETARY OF STATE,

Respondents.

CASE NO. 80563

District Court Case No.: 19 OC 00209 1B

Appellant's Opening Brief

Kevin Benson, Esq.
Benson Law Nevada
123 W. Nye Lane, Suite 487
Carson City, Nevada 89706
(775) 884-0838
kevin@bensonlawnv.com
Attorney for Appellant Rev. Leonard Jackson

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1) because the district court's January 2, 2020 order is a final order resolving all claims between all parties. The January 2, 2020 order was served on January 6, 2020 by U.S. Mail. The notice of appeal was timely filed on February 5, 2020 pursuant to NRAP 4(a).

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

This case involves a ballot question and is therefore presumptively retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(2).

III. ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. Is it inaccurate and misleading for an initiative petition's description of effect to tell voters that in 2023 it merely "could" replace the electoral maps drawn by the Legislature in 2021, when it is certain that will occur?
- 2. Did the district court err by failing to make any findings of fact regarding the true effect of the initiative?
- 3. Did the district court exceed its authority and jurisdiction when it rewrote the initiative's description of effect on behalf of the initiative proponents?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is a challenge to the description of effect of an initiative petition brought pursuant to NRS 295.061 and 295.009(1)(b). The initiative at issue would amend the Nevada Constitution to create a redistricting commission. Joint Appendix ("JA") 49. Appellant Rev. Leonard Jackson ("Jackson") commenced this case on November 26, 2019 by filing his Complaint and Opening Brief in the district court. JA 1.

The Complaint alleged three claims: (1) that the description of effect was false and misleading because it told voters the proposed redistricting commission would be "independent," when in fact it would not be; (2) that the description of effect was inaccurate and misleading because it told voters that the commission would adopt "fair and competitive" electoral maps, when nothing in the initiative actually required that it do so; and (3) that the description was deficient because it failed to inform voters of important practical effects, including that it would cost taxpayers additional money and it failed to notify taxpayers that the commission would adopt maps in 2023 that would replace the maps the Legislature adopts in 2021. JA 4-6.

Respondent Fair Maps Nevada PAC ("Fair Maps") filed an Answer to the Complaint and an Answering Brief on December 13, 2019. JA 25-32; 35-46.

Jackson filed a Reply Brief on December 20, 2019. JA 62-73. The district court held a hearing on the Complaint on December 23, 2019. JA 33-34; 74-119.

On January 2, 2020, the district court entered an order granting declaratory and injunctive relief, and containing a new description of effect. JA 127-132. The district court agreed with Jackson that the proposed commission is not "independent," and that it would be misleading to tell voters that it would adopt "fair and competitive" electoral maps. JA 130. However, the new description of effect set forth in the order states that the proposed commission "could" adopt maps in 2023 that would undo the 2021 maps adopted by the Legislature, rather than accurately and straightforwardly stating that it "will" adopt new maps in 2023. JA 130-31.

The notice of entry of order was served on January 6, 2020 by U.S. Mail. JA 133-34. The notice of appeal was timely filed on February 5, 2020. JA 141.

V. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

On November 4, 2019, Respondent Fair Maps Nevada PAC, filed a constitutional initiative petition designated as #C-02-2019 by the Secretary of State. JA 49. The initiative petition seeks to amend the Nevada Constitution to require that redistricting be performed by a commission rather than by the Legislature ("the Initiative"). JA 49. The Initiative proposes to add a new Section 5A to Article 4, Section 5 of the Nevada Constitution, which would be titled:

"Apportionment; Creation of Independent Redistricting Commission." Initiative, Section 5A. JA 49-50.

The Initiative would create the "Independent Redistricting Commission" ("Commission") within the legislative branch of state government. Initiative, Section 5A(1). Starting in the year 2023, the Commission would apportion the number of Senators and Assemblymen among the state legislative districts and would apportion the number of representatives to the United States House of Representatives among the congressional districts. *Id*.

The Commission would consist of seven members. Initiative, Section 5A(2). The Senate Majority Leader, Senate Minority Leader, Speaker of the Assembly, and Assembly Minority Leader each appoint one commissioner. *Id.* These four commissioners appoint three additional commissioners, each of whom has not been registered or affiliated with either of the two largest political parties in the State within the last four years, and is not registered or affiliated with the same political party as another commissioner. *Id.*

Additionally, a commissioner cannot, within the four years preceding appointment and during their term on the Commission, be a registered lobbyist, a candidate for partisan office, an elected official to a partisan office, an officer or

¹ Unless otherwise noted, the citations to the text of the Initiative are to the *proposed* constitutional section and subsection numbers in Section 2 of the Initiative.

member of the governing body of a political party, a paid consultant or employee of a partisan elected official, candidate, PAC, or caucus, an employee of the Legislature or the State of Nevada (except employees of the judicial branch, the armed forces, or a state institution of higher education). Initiative, Section 5A(3). Nor may a commissioner be related within the third degree of consanguinity or affinity to any such individual. JA 49-50.

All meetings of the Commission must be open to the public and the Commission shall ensure that the public has the opportunity to view, present testimony, and participate in the hearings before the Commission. All Commission materials shall be public records. Initiative, Section 5A(5). *Id*.

The Commission shall adopt a redistricting plan not later than July 1, 2023, and thereafter not later than 180 from the release of the decennial census. Initiative, Section 5B(2). JA 50.

A final plan requires five affirmative votes, including votes from at least one commissioner from each of the two largest political parties and one commissioner not registered or affiliated with either of those parties. *Id.*

The Commission must draw districts according to certain criteria, and must apply those criteria in the order listed in the Initiative. Initiative, Section 5B(1).

These criteria include ensuring that, on a statewide basis, the districts "do not

unduly advantage or disadvantage a political party." *Id.* The last criteria that the Commission may consider is the number of politically competitive districts. *Id.*

The Description of Effect of the Initiative states in full:

This measure will amend the Nevada Constitution to establish an Independent Redistricting Commission to oversee the mapping of fair and competitive electoral districts for the Nevada Senate, Nevada Assembly, and U.S. House of Representatives.

The Commission will consist of seven Nevada voters, four who will be appointed by the leadership of the Nevada Legislature, and three who are unaffiliated with the two largest political parties who will be appointed by the other four commissioners. Commissioners may not be partisan candidates, lobbyists, or certain relatives of such individuals. All meetings of the Commission shall be open to the public who shall have opportunities to participate in hearings before the Commission.

The Commission will ensure, to the extent possible, that the electoral districts comply with the United States Constitution, have an approximately equal number of inhabitants, are geographically compact and contiguous, provide equal opportunities for racial and language minorities to participate in the political process, respect areas with recognized similarities of interests, including racial, ethnic, economic, social, cultural, geographic, or historic identities, do not unduly advantage or disadvantage a political party, and are politically competitive.

This amendment will require redistricting by the Commission beginning in 2023 and thereafter following each federal census.

JA 51.

VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Initiative proposes an amendment to the Nevada Constitution that would create a redistricting commission. The Initiative directs the Commission to adopt a redistricting plan no later than July 1, 2023. The Legislature will perform redistricting in 2021, after the 2020 census.

The Initiative's description of effect contained numerous errors, most of which were addressed by the district court. However, instead of making findings of fact about the true effect of the Initiative, the district court took it upon itself to rewrite the description of effect. The district court's description of effect states that the Commission "could" adopt a redistricting plan in 2023 that would replace the Legislature's 2021 plan. This is inaccurate and misleading because the Commission's 2023 redistricting plan *will* replace the Legislature's 2021 plan. The district court's description of effect therefore violates NRS 295.009(1)(b) because it is not accurate, straightforward, and non-misleading.

The district court also erred by failing to make specific findings of fact regarding the true effect of the Initiative. Such findings of fact are necessary for the district court to determine whether the description of effect complies with NRS 295.009(1)(b). They are also necessary for the petition proponent to redraft the description to comply with the court's order.

Last, the district court erred by rewriting the description of effect itself. The role of the district court is to make findings of fact and determine whether the description complies with the law. The court's role is not to rewrite the description on behalf of the petition proponent. The district court exceeded its jurisdiction and authority when it rewrote the description, therefore that portion of the order must be vacated.

VII. ARGUMENT

1. Standard of Review

The district court's findings of fact will be upheld on appeal unless they are clearly erroneous or are not supported by substantial evidence. *May v. Anderson*, 121 Nev. 668, 672, 119 P.3d 1254, 1257 (2005). Questions of law are reviewed *de novo* (*id.*), including a district court's decision to grant declaratory and injunctive relief which depends on a pure question of law. *Educ. Initiative PAC v. Comm. to Protect Nev. Jobs*, 129 Nev. 35, 41, 293 P.3d 874, 878 (2013).

2. Legal standard for an initiative's description of effect

NRS 295.009(1)(b) requires that every initiative "[s]et forth, in not more than 200 words, a description of the effect of the initiative or referendum if the initiative or referendum is approved by the voters." The purpose of the description of effect is to "prevent voter confusion and promote informed decisions." *Nevadans for Nev. v. Beers*, 122 Nev. 930, 939, 142 P.3d 339, 345 (2006).

The description of effect must appear on every signature page. NRS 295.009(1)(b). Thus "[t]he importance of the description of effect cannot be minimized, as it is what the voters see when deciding whether to even sign a petition." *Coal. for Nev.'s Future v. RIP Commerce Tax, Inc.*, No. 69501, 2016 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 153, at *5 (May 11, 2016) (unpublished decision – NRAP 36(c), *citing Educ. Initiative PAC v. Comm. to Protect Nev. Jobs*, 129 Nev. 35, 37, 293 P.3d 874, 876 (2013) and *Las Vegas Taxpayer Accountability Comm. v. City Council*, 125 Nev. 165, 177, 208 P.3d 429, 437 (2009)).

For that reason, the description of effect "must be a straightforward, succinct, and nonargumentative summary of what the initiative is designed to achieve." *Educ. Initiative*, 129 Nev. at 37, 293 P.3d at 876. The district court must also analyze "whether the information contained in the description is correct and does not misrepresent what the initiative will accomplish and how it intends to achieve those goals." *Id.*, 129 Nev. at 35. 293 P.3d at 883.

3. The district court's description of effect is inaccurate and misleading

After finding that the Proponent's description of effect violated NRS 295.009(1)(b), the district court took it upon itself to rewrite the description of effect. JA 130-31. The district court's description of effect corrects many of the numerous problems with the original description, but it is still materially inaccurate and misleading, and therefore violates NRS 295.009(1)(b). Specifically, the last

sentence of the district court's description of effect states in pertinent part: "This amendment requires redistricting after each federal census, beginning in 2023, which **could** replace maps drawn by the Legislature after the 2020 census..." (emphasis added). JA 131.

Fair Maps argued that it is possible that in 2023 the Commission could simply adopt the Legislature's 2021 redistricting plan, so it won't *necessarily* create a new plan that will replace the Legislature's plan. JA 43. This argument must be rejected. While many things are theoretically possible, there is no real possibility that the Commission would adopt the Legislature's 2021 plan. Accordingly, it is inaccurate and misleading to tell voters that it "could."

First, the initiative itself states that the Commission "shall" adopt a redistricting plan "[n]ot later than July 1, 2023," and then sets forth certain criteria that the Commission must consider, which the Legislature is not required to consider. JA 43. Second, the Commission must be composed of two members of each major party and three members who are not members of either major party. JA 42. Finally, the Commission requires a supermajority of five votes to adopt a plan, including at least one from each major party. JA 50.

In other words, the Commission is required to create a redistricting plan using different criteria than the Legislature, it has a different political composition than the Legislature, and it has a different vote threshold to take action. The

redistricting plan that is different from the plan adopted by the 2021 Legislature. Consequently, it is inaccurate to state that the Commission "could" adopt a plan that would replace the Legislature's plan, because it *will*. It is misleading to voters to imply that there is any realistic possibility that the Commission will simply adopt the Legislature's redistricting plan.

This is a material inaccuracy because redistricting normally occurs only once a decade, and whatever plan is adopted by the Legislature would control during that time. The Initiative makes a significant change by requiring mid-decade redistricting just two years after the Legislature will redistrict in 2021. As a result, the Legislature's redistricting plan will only be effective for a single election cycle in 2022. Voters need to be informed that this initiative will "undo" the redistricting plan adopted by the Legislature 2021.

Since this is about redistricting, it is also, of course, about politics. Whether the Initiative is good policy is not the question before the Court. The question is what information do voters need to know to make an informed decision about whether to sign the petition. Voters care about politics, and therefore the political ramifications if the Initiative becomes law is important information for voters.

Our current Democratic Governor is not up for election in 2020. Democrats also have a majority of seats in both houses of the Legislature. Voters of any

political party (or none) will rightfully consider redistricting control when casting their ballots at the 2020 polls. Democratic voters will expect the 2021 Legislature and the Governor to adopt a redistricting plan that will be friendly to Democrats. And Republican voters will cast votes with the understanding that if they flip either house or the Governor's Mansion, they will have control of drawing the maps. In any case, voters should not be misled to believe that a newly created redistricting commission "could" simply adopt the Legislature's 2021 redistricting plan. That is not at all the point of the Initiative, and the likelihood of it occurring is vanishingly small.

If this initiative becomes law, the Commission will adopt a new plan in 2023, which inevitably will be different than the plan passed in 2021, which in turn will have an effect on the politics of the maps. Some voters would welcome that change, but many others would not. Knowing of that consequence will undoubtedly influence voters' decision whether to support the Initiative or not. It is therefore imperative that the Description accurately describes this consequence so that voters can make an informed decision about whether to support the Initiative.

This case is similar to *Las Vegas Taxpayer Accountability Comm. v. City Council*, 125 Nev. 165, 183-84, 208 P.3d 429, 441 (2009). There, the description of effect stated that the referendum would only apply to new redevelopment plans, when it would actually apply to all redevelopment plans. *Id.* This Court affirmed

the district court's ruling that the description "was materially misleading because, by stating that the referendum's passage would halt only new, additional development projects, it failed to inform the voters that the repeal of Ordinance No. 5830 would also affect existing redevelopment projects." *Id.* This Court stated: "[w]e agree with the district court that the description of effect materially fails to accurately identify the consequences of the referendum's passage," and it therefore violated NRS 295.009(1)(b). *Id.* The description was therefore simply wrong. *Id.*

Here, like in *Las Vegas Taxpayer*, the district court's Description of Effect is simply wrong because it tells voters that the Initiative "could" replace the Legislature's 2021 redistricting plan, when it is certain that it will. It is also misleading and argumentative because the use of the word "could" implies that there is significant uncertainty about whether the Commission would undo the Legislature's plan.

In sum, the district court's Description also violates NRS 295.009(1)(b), because it fails to accurately convey to voters the actual effect of the Initiative, and this part of the district court's order must therefore be reversed.

4. The district court erred by failing to make findings of fact.

The role of the district court is to make findings of fact regarding what the actual effect of the petition is, and from those findings make conclusions of law as to whether the description of effect complies with NRS 295.009(1)(b). For

example, in *Las Vegas Taxpayer Accountability v. City Council of Las Vegas*, 125 Nev. 165, 183-84, 208 P.3d 429, 441 (2009), the district court made findings of fact regarding the "true effect" of the referendum, and based on those findings determined that the description of effect was invalid. It was then up to the petition proponents to rewrite the description of effect and amend their petition.

In Prevent Sanctuary Cities v. Haley, 421 P.3d 281, 2018 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 442, Case No. No. 74966 (Nev. 2018) (unpublished – NRAP 36), the district court found that the initiative violated both the single subject rule and that its description of effect was invalid. However, because it found that the petition violated the single subject rule, the district court did not make specific factual findings regarding the initiative's true effects. Id. at *13-14. This Court affirmed the ruling that the description of effect was invalid, but reversed the single subject ruling. *Id*. at *12-13. It stated that, in light of its reversal on the single subject rule, the petition proponent "should be afforded an opportunity to amend its description of effect to satisfy NRS 295.009(1)(b)." Id. at *13. However, a remand was necessary because the district court did not make any factual findings, and "[w]ithout factual findings regarding the initiative's effect, PSC has been provided no guidance under which it could craft an amended description of effect satisfying NRS 295.009(1)(b)..." *Id.* at *14.

This Court's ruling in *Prevent Sanctuary Cities*, following the precedent set out in *Las Vegas Taxpayer*, clearly states that the district court must make specific factual findings regarding the "true" effect of the petition. The purpose is two-fold: first, such factual findings form the basis of the district court's decision regarding whether the description of effect complies with NRS 295.009(1)(b); second, such findings provide guidance to the petition proponent in redrafting and amending the description of effect.

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