IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

* * * * *

REV. LEONARD JACKSON,

Case No.: 80563

Electronically Filed Apr 06 2020 05:24 p.m.

Elizabeth A. Brown

District Court Case Querk of Supreme Court

19OC002091B

Appellant,

vs.

FAIR MAPS NEVADA PAC; AND BARBARA K. CEGAVSKE, IN HER OFFICIAL CAPACITY AS NEVADA SECRETARY OF STATE,

Respondents.

ANSWERING BRIEF ON APPEAL AND

OPENING BRIEF ON CROSS-APPEAL

Adam Hosmer-Henner, Esq. (NSBN 12779)
Lucas Foletta, Esq. (NSBN 12154)
McDonald Carano LLP
100 West Liberty Street, 10th Floor
Reno, Nevada 89501
Telephone: (775) 788-2000
ahosmerhenner@mcdonaldcarano.com
lfoletta@mcdonaldcarano.com

Attorneys for Respondent Fair Maps Nevada PAC

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

Any action taken by this Court with respect to the Amended Petition would be outside the record and the procedural posture of this case. It would also unduly interfere with Nevadans' right to amend their Constitution through initiative petition. What Appellant seeks in this appeal is the ability to indefinitely stall the political process

through unending litigation. Even though the District Court ruled in Appellant's favor, Appellant still wants to reverse that decision and cause the District Court to resolve new criticisms about the Amended Petition, which would spawn further litigation relating to whether a revised description matched the District Court's new order, which could be further appealed. This cycle is not permitted by NRS 295.061(3). Appellant successfully challenged the Petition's description of effect and Fair Maps then filed an Amended Petition in compliance with the District Court's Order. This Court should dispose of this appeal in Fair Maps' favor given that Appellant is not an aggrieved party, the challenge to the initial Petition is moot, NRS 295.061(3) bars further challenges to the Amended Petition, and Appellant lacks any substantive grounds for relief.

ARGUMENT

I. Introduction

Article 19, Section 2 of the Nevada Constitution enshrines the people's right to amend the Nevada Constitution by initiative petition. Specifically, it states that "the people reserve to themselves the power to propose, by initiative petition, . . . amendments to this Constitution."

Nev. Const. art. 19, § 2(1). The Nevada Constitution further provides that the Legislature "may provide by law for procedures to *facilitate* the operation thereof." *Id.* art. 19, § 5 (emphasis added). In interpreting such laws, the courts "must make every effort to sustain and preserve the people's constitutional right to amend their constitution through the initiative process." *Nevadans for the Prot. of Prop. Rights, Inc. v. Heller*, 122 Nev. 894, 912, 141 P.3d 1235, 1247 (2006).

NRS 295.009(1)(b) provides that a petition must "[s]et forth, in not more than 200 words, a description of the effect of the initiative . . . if the initiative . . . is approved by the voters." NRS 295.009(1)(b). "A description of effect serves a limited purpose to facilitate the initiative process," and that a description of effect should be reviewed with an eye toward that limited purpose. Educ. Initiative PAC v. Comm. to Protect Nev. Jobs, 129 Nev. 35, 37, 293 P.3d 874, 876 (2013). Thus, while a description of effect need not "delineate every effect that an initiative "a straightforward, will have," it must be succinct, and nonargumentative statement of what the initiative will accomplish and how it will achieve those goals." Id. at 38. A description of effect cannot "be deceptive or misleading." *Id.* at 42.

In reviewing a description of effect, "it is inappropriate to parse the meanings of the words and phrases used in a description of effect" as closely as a reviewing court would a statutory text. *Id.* at 48. Such an approach "comes at too high a price in that it carries the risk of depriving the people of Nevada of their constitutional right to propose laws by initiative." *Id.* Thus, a reviewing court "must take a holistic approach" to the required analysis. *Id.* "The opponent of a ballot initiative bears the burden of showing that the initiative's description of effect fails to satisfy this standard." *Id.* at 42.

II. The Appeal is Moot.

Appellant, as the prevailing party, has already obtained an injunction preventing the Petition from appearing on the ballot. JA 127-132. Fair Maps is not seeking to place the Petition on the ballot and is not collecting signatures in support of the Petition, but rather is attempting to qualify the Amended Petition for the ballot. Fair Maps, submitted an Amended Petition to the Nevada Secretary of State in compliance with the District Court's Order, NRS Chapter 295, and this

¹ Fair Maps's cross-appeal was filed only in the event the Court does not determine that the appeal is moot. In the event that the Court rules that the appeal is moot due to the filing of the Amended Petition, then Fair Maps stipulates that the cross-appeal is similarly moot.

Court's precedent. Because Appellant has not challenged the Amended Petition and cannot bring such a challenge pursuant to NRS 295.061(3), there is not a live case or controversy for this Court to resolve.

A. The Filing of the Amended Petition Renders the Appeal Moot.

This Court often resolves ballot cases on mootness grounds. Personhood Nevada v. Bristol, 126 Nev. 599, 602, 245 P.3d 572, 574 (2010) (holding that the appeal "was rendered moot when appellants failed to submit sufficient signatures on the initiative petition by the June 15 submission deadline, rendering the proposed initiative ineligible for vote in the 2010 general election regardless of our decision"); Miller v. Burk, 124 Nev. 579, 599 n. 70, 188 P.3d 1112, 1126 (2008) ("As the primary election is imminent and it appears that the ballots therefore have already been printed, we deny as most any relief directed at the 2008 primary election."); Guinn v. Legislature of State of Nev., 119 Nev. 460, 476, 76 P.3d 22, 33 (2003) ("[W]e determine that the petition for rehearing became moot when the Legislature passed the revenue-generating bills by the requisite two-thirds vote."). The Court's duty "is to decide actual controversies by a judgment which can be

carried into effect, and not to give opinions upon moot questions or abstract propositions, or to declare principles of law which cannot affect the matter in issue before it." *NCAA v. Univ. of Nev.*, 97 Nev. 56, 57, 624 P.2d 10, 10 (1981).

Here, the injunction preventing the Petition from appearing on the ballot is in force and Appellant cannot obtain further relief by gratuitously supplementing that injunction. In Church v. Washoe Cty., 409 P.3d 53 (Nev. 2018) (unpublished), this Court noted that "although the time frame for challenging ballot initiatives might be relatively short, the district court and this court can expedite and resolve those challenges before they become moot, thus providing the challengers with the means to obtain review in that time frame." (internal citations omitted). Appellant did not seek to expedite this appeal until after Fair Maps' Motion to Dismiss was denied, and Appellant delayed the process to the maximum extent possible. What Appellant failed to do though, was to challenge the Amended Petition, which was not 1) directly challenged by Appellant in a separate action, 2) challenged through an amended pleading at the District Court, or 3) enjoined by the District Court in any way. This Court cannot resolve factual challenges to the

Amended Petition in the first instance. *Haley*, 421 P.3d 281. Thus, the entire appeal is mooted as the initial Petition was enjoined by the District Court, the Amended Petition was not enjoined or challenged, and this appeal only relates to Appellant's successful enjoining of the initial Petition.

B. Any Challenge to the Amended Petition is Barred by Statute.

Nevada law explicitly prohibits successive, interminable challenges to a petition's description of effect. "If a description of the effect of an initiative or referendum . . . is challenged successfully pursuant to subsection 1 and such description is amended in compliance with the order of the court, the amended description may not be challenged." NRS 295.061(3). Here, Appellant successfully challenged the description of effect, which was then amended in strict compliance with the District Court's Order. Consequently, the amended description of effect cannot be further challenged in this appeal or in a separate proceeding so as to prevent unlimited hyper-technical nitpicking of the description. Educ. Init., 129 Nev. at 49 (holding that "a hyper-technical examination of whether the description covers each and every aspect of the initiative" is not required and that "a statutory interpretation-style construction of the description, in which the meaning and purpose of each word and phrase contained in the description of effect are examined, is not appropriate").

This interpretation of NRS 295.061(3) is fully supported by the relevant legislative history. Committee Chair Cegavske asked: "Assembly Bill 322 will also provide that a description of the ballot question cannot be challenged. Was that an issue last session?" Fair Maps' Motion to Dismiss, Exhibit 5, Sen. Committee on Legislative Operations and Elections, May 1, 2007, pages 5-6. Assemblywoman Gansert, the sponsor of Assembly Bill 322, replied: "If the court orders you to change the summary in some particular way, once you fix it, you cannot be rechallenged if you mandated a court order. [sic] Currently, you can continue to challenge the same issue as many times within the time frame." *Id.* Assembly Bill 322 was enacted and added NRS 295.061(3) to the statutory scheme.

This Court "has consistently held that the right to appeal is statutory; where no statute or court rule provides for an appeal, no right to appeal exists." Ford v. Showboat Operating Co., 110 Nev. 752,

756, 877 P.2d 546, 549 (1994). Pursuant to the plain language of NRS 295.061(3), once the description of effect is amended in compliance with the order of the court, no further challenge is permitted.

III. Appellant is Not an Aggrieved Party with Standing to Appeal.

Appellant prevailed in full at the district court and is therefore not an "aggrieved" party who may appeal. NRAP 3A(a) (providing that only a "party who is aggrieved by an appealable judgment or order may appeal from that judgment or order . . .") Pursuant to this Court's interpretation of NRAP 3A(a), a party is "aggrieved" when a "judgment adversely and substantially affects either a personal right or a property right." Roth v. Bayerische Motoren Werke Aktiengesellschaft, 124 Nev. 1504, 238 P.3d 851 (2008). A party who has prevailed below cannot be said to be aggrieved. Calloway v. City of Reno, 116 Nev. 250, 271, 993 P.2d 1259, 1272 (2000) (dismissing cross-appeal for lack of jurisdiction, holding that because "the City prevailed in the district court, the City is not an aggrieved party").

The relief requested by Appellant in his Complaint was that the Court "enter an order: 1. Declaring that the Petition does not comply

with NRS 295.009(1)(b) and is therefore invalid; 2.) Prohibiting the Secretary of State from placing the Petition on any ballot; and, 3. Granting any other relief the Court deems just." The District Court entered an order declaring that the Petition "failed to satisfy the requirements of NRS 295.009(1)(b)" and invalidating "any signatures collected on the Petition containing the description of effect." JA 127-132. Appellant obtained the full relief requested in his Complaint and therefore this appeal should be dismissed. Comm'n on Ethics of State v. Carrigan, 126 Nev. 701, 367 P.3d 759 (2010) ("cross-appellant prevailed below, and as a result, it appeared that cross-appellant was not an aggrieved party with standing to appeal"); Webb, ex rel. Webb v. Clark Cty. Sch. Dist., 125 Nev. 611, 617–18, 218 P.3d 1239, 1244 (2009) (dismissing appeal because "the district court awarded Webb damages in the amount of \$27,270, we conclude that Webb was not denied any equitable or legal rights").

Appellant filed a Complaint on November 26, 2019 asserting three causes of action: 1) "Misleading Description of Effect: 'Independent'"; 2) "Misleading Description of Effect: 'Fair and competitive maps"; and 3) "Misleading Description of Effect: 'Practical and Fiscal Impacts." JA 1-

6. The District Court agreed with Appellant and entered an order providing full relief on each of these causes of action, requiring the description of effect be amended in accordance with each of the defined challenges raised by Appellant. Furthermore, Appellant was required to include all challenges and supporting documents at one time, together with the first filing of the complaint. NRS 295.061(1) ("All affidavits and documents in support of the challenge must be filed with the complaint.") No new arguments or evidence can be raised through motion practice or on appeal.

Finally, Appellant cannot maintain a piecemeal appeal from a specific portion of the Order whether it is a finding of fact or a conclusion of law. In *Ford*, this Court held that "no court rule or statute provides for an appeal from a finding of fact or from a conclusion of law." 110 Nev. at 756 ("A party who prevails in the district court and who does not wish to alter any rights of the parties arising from the judgment is not aggrieved by the judgment.") As Appellant obtained the requested declaratory relief, he cannot maintain an appeal that would have no additional effect, other than to affirm the relief already provided.

IV. The District Court Had Jurisdiction to Approve of a Revised Description of Effect.

Appellant argues that the District Court lacks jurisdiction to approve of a revised description of effect, but must only issue findings of fact and thus permit further litigation over whether the revised description of effect was consistent with those findings. Op. Br. 16-18. This position is devoid of any legal support and falters based on the plain language of the statute, which states that after a successful challenge to the description of effect, the description can be "amended in compliance with the order of the court." NRS 295.061(3). The applicable statutes do not prohibit the District Court from rewriting a description of effect; rather, they explicitly contemplate that a description may be amended "in compliance" with the court's order. It makes no difference whether the revised description of effect is contained within the court's order or merely based on it. Fair Maps, not the District Court, drafted and submitted the Amended Petition with a revised description of effect to the Secretary of State. Furthermore, the District Court found in Appellant's favor on every issue, took out every objectionable word, and added in everything that Appellant claimed was missing.

Appellant does not explain how he is aggrieved or harmed in any way by the District Court's action. His arguments appear to be entirely theoretical. The District Court's Order did not require Fair Maps to use the description of effect suggested by the Court, it just stated that the Court "finds that the above-referenced deficiencies may be cured through the revised description of effect provided herein" "identifi[ed] a new description of effect that satisfies the legal standard required by NRS 295.061(3)." JA 138. This is not a jurisdictional issue at all and Appellant cites to nothing from any source that would prevent the Court from including suggested language. In fact, Appellant strangely cites to Prevent Sanctuary Cities v. Haley for the proposition that "the district court did not provide a recommendation for resolving the description's insufficiency." 2018 WL 2272955, at *4; Op. Br. 17. This citation fully supports Fair Maps as the Court in Haley was criticizing the district court for not providing the "recommendation" that the District Court provided in this case.

Additionally, this Court's case law is entirely consistent with the District Court's action. In *Nevadans for Nevada v. Beers*, the committee supporting an initiative petition "submitted a revised description of

effect, which the district court adopted as adequate by order dated March 7, 2006. On March 8, 2006, the committee filed with the Secretary of State a new copy of its initiative petition with the revised description of effect." 122 Nev. 930, 935, 142 P.3d 339, 342 (2006). This is precisely what happened here as Fair Maps submitted a revised description of effect to the District Court through lengthy discussions with the District Court during the hearing and the District Court adopted it "as adequate" in its January 2, 2020 Order. JA 127-132; see also Coal. for Nevada's Future v. RIP Commerce Tax, Inc., 132 Nev. 956 (2016) (citing NRS 295.061(3) for the proposition that an amended description cannot be challenged).

V. The District Court Made Adequate Findings of Fact.

First, NRS 295.061(1) requires that all "affidavits and documents in support of the challenge must be filed with the complaint." Appellant failed to include any affidavits, documents, facts, or evidence with his complaint or at any time thereafter. Accordingly, he has waived any arguments as to the District Court failing to make findings of fact. He certainly has waived any argument with respect to whether the revised

description of effect is misleading or deceptive to voters as he has not provided this Court with any factual basis to assess these claims.

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